STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT
Appeal from the Court of Appeals
[Smolenski, P.J. and Whitbeck, C.J. and O'Connell, J.]

KAREN RENNY and CHARLES RENNY,

Plaintiffs,

v

ROSCOMMON COUNTY ROAD
COMMISSION and ROSCOMMON
TOWNSHIP and JOHN DOE I, an unknown
individual or entity,

Defendants.

Consolidated with:

KAREN RENNY and CHARLES RENNY,

Plaintiffs/Appellees,

v

MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF
TRANSPORTATION,

Defendant/Appellant.

Supreme Court No. 131086

Court of Appeals No. 257018

Roscommon Circuit Court
No. 02-723681-NO

Consolidated with:

Court of Claims
No. 03-42-MT-C30

**DEFENDANT/APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON APPEAL
ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

Michael A. Cox
Attorney General

STATEMENT OF THE BASIS OF APPELLATE JURISDICTION

On December 6, 2006, the Supreme Court granted Defendant-Appellant's Application for Leave to Appeal the March 21, 2006 judgment of the Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS INVOLVED

MDOT is immune from tort claims except those falling within limited statutory exceptions. The "public building exception" creates liability for negligent failure to repair and maintain buildings. This Court has interpreted virtually identical language in the "highway exception" to exclude design claims. Plaintiff claims that she slipped on ice outside of the entrance to MDOT's building, and that the ice was allegedly caused by rain water dripping intermittently from the roof.

This Court specified issues to be briefed:

- (1) whether the Court of Appeals correctly characterized the alleged dangerous or defective condition in this case as a design defect;
- (2) whether the public building exception, which obligates a governmental agency 'to repair and maintain public buildings,' permits a party to bring a design defect claim; and
- (3) whether the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the icy sidewalk was not a transitory condition is contrary to this Court's decision in *Wade v Dep't of Corrections*, 439 Mich 158 (1992)."

INTRODUCTION

In the watershed case *Ross v Consumers Power Company*, this Court held that the Legislature intended governmental immunity should be broad and that the limited exceptions are to be narrowly construed. One such exception is the public building exception, which provides that the government is liable if it negligently fails to "repair and maintain" a public building. This Court has not directly addressed the question of whether a design defect could qualify as a failure to "repair and maintain" a public building under the exception. The statute's plain language, however, makes clear that the duty to repair and maintain requires only that the government ensure the physical condition of the building is maintained in good repair, not that the government create the safest design possible. This Court has recognized the same point in interpreting similar language in the highway exception. The claim here is that the government defectively designed the building because it failed to install gutters and additional ceiling insulation to prevent the dripping that caused ice to form on the sidewalk. But there is no obligation to design the building in this fashion and the trial court properly dismissed the Plaintiffs' claim inasmuch as there was no failure to repair and maintain the building.

With respect to the question whether the icy sidewalk was a transitory condition, in *Wade v Dep't of Corrections*, this Court held that the public building exception is limited to injuries caused by a dangerous condition of the building itself. This exception does not extend to injuries caused by "transitory conditions" unrelated to the permanent structure or physical integrity of the building. In *Wade*, recovery was denied because the injuries were due to a transitory condition, i.e., a slip and fall on oil that had accumulated on the floor of a public building. Likewise here, the claim that Plaintiffs advance – a slip and fall on ice – does not allege injuries caused by a dangerous condition of the building. Consequently, Plaintiffs are not entitled to recovery.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff Karen Renny alleges that she was injured when she slipped on ice outside of the entrance to a public rest area. She brought this action against the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) pursuant to the "public building exception" to MDOT's immunity.¹ She maintained in her Complaint that MDOT breached its statutory duty "by designing, constructing, keeping and/or maintaining the restroom building described herein which had dangerous and/or defective conditions."² The complaint claimed that the lack of adequate ceiling insulation and/or gutters on the building roof caused water to accumulate and freeze on the sidewalk that led to her fall and injury.³ There is no allegation that the roof was defective – simply that the design of the building did not include the installation of adequate insulation or gutters.

The Trial Court's Opinion

MDOT brought its Motion for Summary Disposition, based on several grounds, including that the public building exception does not create liability for defective design of a building.⁴ The trial court granted MDOT's motion on July 7, 2004, and Plaintiff appealed to the Court of Appeals.⁵

The Court of Appeals' Opinion

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court by published decision released March 21, 2006.⁶ In its decision, the Court of Appeals explicitly held that "[d]esign defects are [] actionable under the public building exception to immunity."⁷

On May 2, 2006, MDOT filed its application for leave to appeal to the Supreme Court.

¹ MCL 691.1406.

² Complaint, ¶19(A), Appendix p 14a.

³ Complaint, Appendix p 11a.

⁴ MDOT motion and supporting brief, Appendix p 17a.

⁵ Order, Appendix, p 41a.

⁶ *Renny v Dep't of Transportation*, 270 Mich App 318; 716 NW2d 1 (2006).

⁷ *Renny*, 270 Mich App at 326.

ARGUMENT

I. The plain language of the Governmental Tort Liability Act's (GTLA) public building exception to governmental immunity makes MDOT liable for negligent failure to "repair and maintain" its public buildings. Construing very similar language in the GTLA's highway exception, this Court has held there is no liability for design defects. Thus there is no independent duty to ensure building safety through design measures. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that Plaintiff could proceed against MDOT based on design factors allegedly contributing to her fall on an icy sidewalk.

A. Standard of Review

The appropriate standard of review for a Court of Appeals interpretation of a statute is *de novo*.⁸

B. Governmental immunity is broad, and the statutory exceptions must be construed narrowly.

In general, the State of Michigan and its agencies, including MDOT, are immune from tort claims while performing governmental functions. This governmental immunity was codified by the Legislature in the Governmental Tort Liability Act⁹ following a period in which the courts had been limiting common-law immunity. The GTLA contains very specific and limited exceptions to governmental immunity — one of which, the "public building exception"¹⁰, is the basis of this lawsuit. A claim must fall squarely within one of these exceptions in order to overcome governmental immunity.¹¹

The touchstone judicial construction of the GTLA is this Court's opinion in *Ross v Consumer's Power*.¹² In that opinion, the Court noted the evolution of the common-law doctrine

⁸ *Grossman v Brown*, 470 Mich 593, 598; 685 NW2d 198 (2004).

⁹ MCL 691.1401, *et seq.*

¹⁰ MCL 691.1406.

¹¹ MCL 691.1407 (1).

¹² *Ross v Consumers Power Co* (On Rehearing), 420 Mich 567, 618; 363 NW2d 641 (1984).

of sovereign immunity that culminated in *Williams v Detroit*¹³ – in which the courts appeared to be prepared to abolish governmental immunity – and the legislative response to that decision encompassed within the GTLA. Construing the statutory language, the Court concluded that the legislative intent was that governmental immunity should be broad, and the limited exceptions are to be narrowly construed. "This broad grant of immunity, when coupled with the four narrowly drawn statutory exceptions, suggests that the Legislature intended that the term 'governmental function' be interpreted in a broad manner."¹⁴

Virtually every case considering governmental liability since *Ross* has cited that opinion for these two propositions: (1) that governmental immunity is broad and the exceptions narrow, and (2) in considering whether a given set of facts falls within an exception, the legislative intent is to be discerned by looking to the plain language of the statute.¹⁵

C. The public building exception imposes upon governmental entities the actionable duty to "repair and maintain" buildings in their control.

The statutory public building exception to governmental immunity provides, in part¹⁶:

Governmental agencies have the obligation *to repair and maintain public buildings under their control* when open for use by members of the public. Governmental agencies are liable for bodily injury and property damage resulting from a dangerous or defective condition of a public building if the governmental agency had actual or constructive knowledge of the defect and, for a reasonable time after acquiring knowledge, failed to remedy the condition or to take action reasonably necessary to protect the public against the condition. * * *

The first Supreme Court decision after *Ross* to consider the public building exception was

¹³ *Williams v Detroit*, 364 Mich 231; 111 NW2d 1 (1961).

¹⁴ *Ross*, 420 Mich at 618.

¹⁵ *Reardon v Dep't of Mental Health*, 430 Mich 398, 407-408; 424 NW2d 248 (1988); *Nawrocki v Macomb Co Rd Comm*, 463 Mich 143, 159; 615 NW2d 702 (2000); *Hanson v Mecosta Co Rd Comm*, 465 Mich 492, 498; 638 NW2d 396 (2002).

¹⁶ MCL 691.1406 (emphasis added).

Reardon v Dep't of Mental Health.¹⁷ The plaintiffs in *Reardon* and its companion case had both been sexually assaulted in public buildings, and they alleged that certain "conditions" of the buildings gave rise to the assaults. In *Reardon*, the assailant allegedly gained entrance to the plaintiff's room with one of 18 master keys that were in possession of the defendant's employees. The existence of these keys was alleged to render the building unsafe. The plaintiff in the companion case, *Schafer v Ethridge*, was assaulted while she was a patient on an acute care ward at the mental health facility where she resided. Her guardian claimed that the physical layout of the ward created a defective condition that allowed for the assault to occur.

The Court reiterated the *Ross* formulation that immunity is broad, and the public building exception is to be narrowly construed¹⁸:

In light of the historical context in which the statute was enacted, as well as the language chosen by the Legislature, and the generally broad scope of immunity, we hold that the Legislature intended the public building exception to apply in cases where the injury is occasioned by *the physical condition of the building itself*.

The Court held that neither plaintiff's claim fell within the exception. The existence in *Reardon* of a number of master keys was simply not a "physical condition of the building", and in *Schafer* although the physical layout of the ward was alleged to be a cause of the assault, the Court found that it did not constitute a defect "of" the building that led to the plaintiff's injury: "While 2-West may not have been configured in the most modern design possible at the time of the assault, there is no evidence that the physical condition of the ward posed a danger to plaintiff."¹⁹

¹⁷ *Reardon*, 430 Mich at 398.

¹⁸ *Reardon*, 430 Mich at 412-413 (emphasis added).

¹⁹ *Reardon*, 430 Mich at 416-417.

The crux of the *Reardon* decision, then, is that although extraneous factors may arguably lead to an unsafe condition in a public building, the exception to immunity applies only to injuries caused by a physical condition of the building.

Since *Reardon*, this Court has developed a five-part test to determine whether a claim falls within the public building exception. A plaintiff must establish that (1) a governmental agency is involved, (2) the public building in question is open for use by members of the public, (3) a dangerous or defective condition of the building itself exists, (4) the governmental agency had actual or constructive knowledge of the alleged defect, and (5) the governmental agency failed to remedy the alleged defective condition after a reasonable period.²⁰

D. Historically, the courts have indicated that design defects may fall within the public building exception to immunity. This assumption has not been directly addressed since this Court's decision in *Ross*.

Although the subject has been addressed several times in *dicta*, there have been no post-*Ross* cases decided directly on the question of whether an alleged design flaw may constitute a building defect. This Court recognized that the issue was not settled in *de Sanchez v Michigan Dept of Mental Health*²¹:

Despite the oft-cited proposition that a public building may be dangerous or defective because of its improper design, the issue whether a design defect may actually constitute a defect in a public building sufficient to invoke the public building exception has caused this Court considerable difficulty. Nonetheless, that issue is not before this Court.

Cases that have discussed design as a potentially actionable building defect cite *Reardon* and the pre-*Ross* decision in *Bush v Oscoda Area Schools*,²² (upon which *Reardon* relied in

²⁰ *Sewell v Southfield Public Schools*, 456 Mich 670; 576 NW2d 153 (1998); *Kerbersky v Northern Mich Univ*, 458 Mich 525, 529; 528 NW2d 828 (1998).

²¹ *de Sanchez v Michigan Dept of Mental Health*, 455 Mich 83, 96; 565 NW2d 358 (1998).

²² *Bush v Oscoda Area Schools*, 405 Mich 716; 275 NW2d 268 (1979).

dictum, although the issue was not germane to the case)²³:

In *Bush v Oscoda Area Schools*, [], we held that this duty is not strictly limited to the repair or maintenance of public buildings. Instead, we held that "a building may be dangerous or defective because of improper design, faulty construction or the absence of safety devices." *Id.* at 730. We reiterate this proposition, as the holding in *Bush* is entirely consistent with today's conclusion that the injury must be occasioned by the dangerous or defective physical condition of the building itself. As long as the danger of injury is presented by a physical condition of the building, it little matters that the condition arose because of improper design, faulty construction, or absence of safety devices.

In *Bush*, the claimed defect was the absence of safety devices in a classroom being used as a chemistry laboratory. The trial court granted summary disposition to the defendant school district on the grounds that this theory failed to state a claim under the exception. Despite the fact that the statute describes the government's obligation as one to "repair and maintain," this Court indicated that the duty imposed in the public building exception went beyond mere repair and maintenance, and that defective design could negatively impact the safety of the building and therefore constitute a defect.²⁴ The Court arrived at this conclusion based on its review of cases decided under the highway negligence exception to immunity. However, the Court decided the case on a narrower issue, agreeing with the Court of Appeals that "the question whether a part of a building, in this case a classroom, is dangerous or defective is to be determined in light of the 'uses or activities' for which it is 'specifically assigned', in this case a physical science class."²⁵

The Court found that whether the classroom was defective under this standard was a question of fact²⁶:

²³ *Reardon*, 430 Mich at 409-410.

²⁴ *Bush*, 405 Mich at 730.

²⁵ *Bush*, 405 Mich at 731.

²⁶ *Bush*, 405 Mich at 732.

To be sure, the lack of certain safety devices did not render the classroom defective per se; it is ordinarily unnecessary to install laboratory safety equipment in classrooms. In determining whether a place is safe, one must consider the use or purpose it serves.

The case was remanded for trial for determination of that and other facts, including notice.

Based upon *Bush* and *Reardon*, the courts have avoided deciding the design question largely by relying upon either an examination of whether the building was being used for its intended purpose as in *Bush*, or, as in *Schafer*, the claimed defect could have been overcome by proper supervision, resulting in a pure negligence claim.²⁷

E. The public building exception obligates a government agency to "repair and maintain" public buildings; it does not permit a party to bring a claim based on alleged design defect.

It is important to reiterate that *Bush's* declaration that allegedly flawed design could constitute a building defect was based on previous cases brought under another of the statutory exceptions, the highway exception²⁸:

The defective building provision is structurally similar to the defective highway provisions. It states a duty, "repair and maintain", and in providing a cause of action extends it to "a dangerous or defective condition of a building". *We construe the defective building provision as we have the defective highway provision.* Governmental agencies are subject to liability for a dangerous or defective condition of a public building without regard to whether it arises out of a failure to repair and maintain.

As in the highway cases, a building may be dangerous or defective because of improper design, faulty construction or the absence of safety devices.

It is certainly the fact that the great bulk of the current Michigan jurisprudence explaining

²⁷ *Williamson v Department of Mental Health*, 176 Mich App 752; 440 NW2d 97 (1989); *Sewell*, 456 Mich at 670.

²⁸ *Bush*, 405 Mich at 730 (emphasis added).

the limited nature of the exceptions to governmental immunity has arisen in the context of the highway defect exception, which provides, in part²⁹:

Except as otherwise provided in section 2a, each governmental agency having jurisdiction over a highway *shall maintain the highway in reasonable repair* so that it is reasonably safe and convenient for public travel. A person who sustains bodily injury or damage to his or her property by reason of failure of a governmental agency to keep a highway under its jurisdiction in reasonable repair, and in a condition reasonably safe and fit for travel may recover the damages suffered by him or her from the governmental agency.

Significantly, the Legislature chose the same words to describe the duty placed on governmental entities, to "repair and maintain" both highways and buildings under their jurisdiction. This point was recognized by this Court in *Bush*, as quoted above.

The similarity of the second sentence in the respective statutes is also noteworthy in that the express duty to "repair and maintain" is in regard to the "condition of the facility":

A person who sustains bodily injury or damage to his or her property by reason of failure of a governmental agency to keep a highway under its jurisdiction in reasonable repair, and in *a condition reasonably safe and fit for travel* may recover the damages suffered by him or her from the governmental agency. [MCL 691.1402]

Governmental agencies are liable for bodily injury and property damage resulting from a *dangerous or defective condition* of a public building . . . [MCL 691.1406]

It was misinterpretation of the second sentence of the highway exception that led the courts astray in expanding that exception to include not only the duty set forth in the first sentence to "repair and maintain", but also a generalized duty to ensure that highways are "in a condition reasonably safe and fit for travel."

This Court's decision in *Nawrocki v Macomb Co Rd Comm*, reversed this trend as it emphasized and clarified the narrow construction to be given to statutory exceptions to

²⁹ MCL 691.1402 (1) (emphasis added).

governmental immunity generally.³⁰ The Court acknowledged that there had been "an exhausting line of confusing and contradictory decisions" in the highway tort liability area. Then it reaffirmed the principle of *Ross* "that the immunity conferred on governmental agencies is *broad*, with *narrowly* drawn exceptions," and indicated that it was "duty-bound to overrule past decisions that depart from a narrow construction and application of the highway exception and the plain language of the statutory clause."³¹

Thus, the Court explicitly overruled *Pick v Szymczak*,³² which held that highway authorities could be liable for "points of special hazard"³³:

Pick failed to simply apply the plain language of the highway exception and, instead, relied on judicially invented phrases nowhere found in the statutory clause, thus thrusting upon the state and county road commissions a duty not contemplated by the Legislature. *Pick* unacceptably departed from the plain language of the statute, thus allowing a plaintiff to avoid governmental immunity for conditions arising at 'point[s] of hazard,' affecting travel on the surface of the improved portion of the highway, regardless of whether those conditions originated on the surface of the roadbed or not. . . .

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