STATE OF MICHIGAN  
IN THE SUPREME COURT  
Appeal from the Court of Appeals  
[Smolenski, P.J. and Whitbeck, C.J. and O'Connell, J.]

KAREN RENNY and CHARLES RENNY,

Plaintiffs,

v

ROSCOMMON COUNTY ROAD  
COMMISSION and ROSCOMMON  
TOWNSHIP and JOHN DOE I, an unknown  
Individual or entity,

Defendants.

Supreme Court No. 131086

Court of Appeals No. 257018

Roscommon Circuit Court  
No. 02-723681-NO

Consolidated with:

Court of Claims  
No. 03-42-MT-C30

KAREN RENNY and CHARLES RENNY,

Plaintiffs/Appellees,

v

MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,  
Defendant/Appellant.

---

**PLAINTIFFS/APPELLEES' BRIEF ON APPEAL**

**ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

ROBERT CHARLES. DAVIS (P40155)

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

IV. **LEGAL ARGUMENTS**

A. **The Michigan Court of Appeals Incorrectly Characterized The Alleged Dangerous or Defective Condition In This Case As A “Design Defect”.**

The first request from this Michigan Supreme Court reads as follows:

“On order of the Court, the application for leave to appeal the March 21, 2006 judgment of the Court of Appeals is considered, and it is GRANTED. The parties shall include among the issues to be addressed: (1) whether the Court of Appeals correctly characterized the alleged dangerous or defective condition in this case as a **design** defect;” (**Renny**, 723 NW2d at p. 911.)

The Michigan Court of Appeals ruled that the defective condition included the failure to install and maintain gutters and downspouts to redirect melting snow and ice.

**“By way of illustration, not limitation, [the] defective conditions include the failure to install and maintain gutters and downspouts to redirect melting snow and ice on the roof above the entrance/exit away from the walkway.**

We conclude that this allegation, that the injury-causing condition arose out of a dangerous or defective condition of the building itself, is sufficient to meet the pleading requirement of the public building exception.” (**Renny**, 270 Mich. App. at p. 334, 335 -- Appendix, p 31a) (Emphasis Added)

The underlying trial record shows that the restroom building – as constructed -- had gutters on it. In a memo from Bob Bedell, Supervisor, Roscommon County Road Commission dated February 20, 2002 to Tim Jones, Bedell states and makes clear that the restroom building at issue had gutters all the way around the restroom building when it was first built.

**“There used to be gutters all the way around the building when it was first built.”** (Bedell Memo – Appendix, p. 2b) (Emphasis Added)

These gutters were then removed. There is no record fact to show that the restroom building was designed to not have gutters. The removal of the gutters is not a design defect, but a failure to repair and maintain which triggers the public building exception to governmental immunity.

Although not involving the public building exception to governmental immunity, this Michigan Supreme Court in **Hanson** v. **Mecosta**, 465 Mich. 492; 638 NW2d 396, 401-402 (2002) offered a definition for the term “maintain”. According to this Michigan

Supreme Court the term “maintain” means to keep in a state of repair preserve from failure to decline.<sup>1</sup>

“We agree with the Court of Appeals majority and hold that the road commission's duty under the highway exception does not include a duty to design, or to correct defects arising from the original design or construction of highways. In **\*\*402** the highway exception, the Legislature has said that the duty of the road commission is to “ *maintain* the highway in reasonable repair so that it is reasonably safe and convenient for public travel.” The statute further provides that the specific duty of the state and county road commissions is to “ *repair and maintain* ” highways. “Maintain” and “repair” are not technical legal terms. In common usage, “maintain” means “to keep in a state of repair, efficiency, or validity: preserve from failure or decline.” *Webster's Third New International Dictionary*, Unabridged Edition (1966), p. 1362. Similarly, “repair” means “to restore to a good or sound condition after decay or damage; mend.” *Random House Webster's College Dictionary* (2000), p. 1119” (**Hanson** v. **Mecosta**, 465 Mich. 492; 638 NW2d 396, 401-402 (2002).)

When examining the term “maintain”, this Michigan Supreme Court ruled that it is not a technical legal term. According to this Michigan Supreme Court, the term “maintain” means to keep in a state of repair. Here, the restroom building’s original design had gutters. These gutters were not maintained or kept in a state of repair – in fact they were completely removed. This is not a case where the Plaintiffs are alleging that the original design was defective or a case where the Plaintiffs are alleging that a better/safer design from the original design could have been implemented. As a result, the removal of the

---

<sup>1</sup> While **Hanson** does not involve, the public building exception to governmental immunity, it offers insight into the meaning of the terms “design” and “maintain”. The Plaintiffs only cite to **Hanson** to illustrate the meaning of the term “design” when compared to the meaning of the term “maintain”. The Plaintiffs further state that although design defects due not fit within the highway exception to governmental immunity as illustrated in **Hanson**, design defects do fit within the public building exception to governmental immunity under **Bush** v **Oscoda**, 405 Mich. 716; 275 NW2d 268, 273 (1979) and as discussed below.

gutters is not a design defect, but a failure to repair and maintain. This triggers the public building exception to governmental immunity.

B. **The Public Building Exception, Which Obligates A Governmental Agency “To Repair And Maintain Public Buildings,” Permits A Party To Bring A Design Defect Claim.**

The second request from this Michigan Supreme Court reads as follows:

“whether the **public building exception**, which obligates a governmental agency “to repair and maintain **public buildings**,” permits a party to bring a **design** defect claim;” (**Renny**, 723 NW2d at p. 911.)

The case law from this Michigan Supreme Court and the Michigan Court of Appeals shows that design defect claims fit within the public building exception to governmental immunity. The Michigan Court of Appeals, in its Opinion, amplified this controlling precedent:

“**However, MDOT's claim that the public building exception does not apply to the Rennys' claim based on defective design is without merit. The Michigan Supreme Court has held that a "building may be dangerous or defective because of *improper design*, faulty construction, or the absence of safety devices."** [\[FN25\]](#) Further, the Court has held that " '[a]s long as the danger of injury is presented by a **physical condition of the building, it little matters that the condition arose because of improper design, faulty construction, or absence of safety devices.**' " [\[FN26\]](#) Design defects are, therefore, actionable under the public building exception to immunity.” (**Renny**, 270 Mich. App. at p. 326 -- Appendix, p. 25a, 26a)

The case law history on the question is instructive. In 1979, this Michigan Supreme Court ruled that a building “may be” defective because of “improper design”. (**Bush v. Oscoda**, 405 Mich. 716; 275 NW2d 268, 273 (1979).) In 1988, this Michigan Supreme Court reiterated this rule of law.

“The first sentence imposes upon governmental agencies the duty to “repair and maintain public buildings under their control....” In

[Bush v. Oscoda Area Schools](#), 405 Mich. 716, 275 N.W.2d 268 (1979), we held that this duty is not strictly limited to the repair or maintenance of public buildings. Instead, we held that “a **\*410 building may be dangerous or defective because of improper design, faulty construction or the absence of safety devices.**” *Id.* at 730, 275 N.W.2d 268. We reiterate this proposition, as the holding in *Bush* is entirely consistent with today's conclusion that the injury must be occasioned by the dangerous or defective physical condition of the building itself. As long as the danger of injury is presented by a physical condition of the **building, it little matters that the condition arose because of improper design, faulty construction, or absence of safety devices.**” (Reardon v. Department of Mental Health, 430 Mich. 398, 409; 424 NW2d 248 (1988).)

In 1989, the Michigan Court of Appeals cited to and relied on the Bush ruling that a building may be dangerous or defective because of improper design.

**“A building may be dangerous or defective because of improper design, faulty construction or the absence of safety devices. *Bush v. Oscoda Area Schools*, 405 Mich. 716, 730, 275 N.W.2d 268 (1979).”** (Williamson v. Department of Public Health, 176 Mich. App. 752, 757; 440 NW2d 97 (1989).) (Emphasis Added)

In 1992, this Michigan Supreme Court again ruled that a public building may be defective because of improper design regardless of repair or maintenance issues:

“In general, governmental agencies "are subject to liability for a dangerous or defective condition of a public building without regard to whether it \*422 arises out of a failure to repair and maintain." [\*Bush v. Oscoda Area Schools\*](#), 405 Mich. 716, 730, 275 N.W.2d 268 (1979). **A public building may be dangerous or defective because of improper design, faulty construction, or absence of safety devices.** *Id.* However, a court should only look to the uses or activities for which the public building is assigned to determine if a dangerous or defective condition exists. *Id.* at 731, 275 N.W.2d 268.” (Hickey v. Zezulka, 440 Mich. 1203; 487 NW2d 106 (1992).) (Emphasis Added)

\* \* \*

**“Although we agree that a claim of improper design may allow the public building exception to be applied, that outcome is not required here.”** (Hickey v. Zezulka, 440 Mich. 1203; 487 NW2d 106 (1992).) (Emphasis Added)

In 1998, this Michigan Supreme Court again made it clear that design defect claims fit within the public building exception to governmental immunity:

”Because the public building exception applies only where the physical condition of the building itself causes the injury, the government's duty is to "maintain safe public buildings, but not necessarily safety in public buildings." Reardon, supra at 417, 424 N.W.2d 248. **We have previously held that a building may be dangerous or defective because of improper design, faulty construction, or the absence of safety devices.** Hickey, 439 Mich. at 422, 487 N.W.2d 106.” (Sewell v. Southfield Public Schools, 456 Mich. 670, 675; 576 NW2d 153 (1998).) (Emphasis Added)

In 2002, the Michigan Court of Appeals again ruled that design defects trigger the public building exception to governmental immunity.

“Traditionally, a five-part test has been applied to determine whether this exception applies to a particular case: A plaintiff must establish that (1) a governmental agency is involved, (2) the public building in question is open for use by members of the public, (3) a dangerous or defective condition of the public building itself exists, (4) the governmental agency had actual or constructive knowledge of the alleged defect, and (5) the governmental agency failed to remedy the alleged defective condition after a reasonable period. [Sewell, supra at 675, 576 N.W.2d 153.]

"[T]he public building exception applies only where the physical condition of the building itself causes the injury...." *Id.* "[A] **building may be dangerous or defective because of improper design, faulty construction, or the absence of safety devices.**" *Id.* "[W]hether a building is dangerous or defective must be determined in light of the uses or activities for which it is assigned." *Id.* "[I]n certain circumstances, the public building exception will not apply where proper supervision would have offset any shortcomings in the configuration of the room." *Id.* "[W]here the essence of a \*626 plaintiff's claim is negligent supervision, the plaintiff cannot properly allege a building defect merely because a superior building design would have facilitated better supervision." *Id. at 676, 576 N.W.2d 153.*” (Kruger v.

**White Lake Tp.**, 250 Mich. App. 622; 648 NW2d 660 (March 8, 2002).) (Emphasis Added)

As this Michigan Supreme Court ruled in **Reardon** and **Sewell**, the government's duty is to maintain safe public buildings. As stated above, this Michigan Supreme Court and the Michigan Court of Appeals have historically recognized that a component of maintaining safe public buildings is design. This Michigan Supreme Court and the Michigan Court of Appeal's history on this issue is logical. It is difficult, if not impossible, to maintain safe public buildings if the design is not considered. The Michigan Court of Appeals' Opinion is consistent with this Michigan Supreme Court and the Michigan Court of Appeals history of rulings on this issue.

1. **MDOT'S Reliance on this Michigan Supreme Court's Opinion in Nawrocki v. Macomb County Road Commission et. al., 463 Mich. 143; 615 NW2d 702 (2000) is Misplaced.**

On this issue, MDOT argues that this Michigan Supreme Court ruling in **Nawrocki** stands for the proposition that design defect claims do not fit within the highway exception to governmental immunity. The **Nawrocki** ruling has no relevance to the public building exception to governmental immunity. In 2002 – two years after **Nawrocki** – the Michigan Court of Appeals again ruled that design defects do fit within the public building exception to governmental immunity. (See: **Kruger** v. **White Lake Tp.**, 250 Mich. App. 622; 648 NW2d 660 (March 8, 2002)) Moreover, this Michigan Supreme Court -- one year after **Nawrocki** -- analyzed the public building exception to governmental immunity extensively in **Fane** v. **Department of Corrections**, 465 Mich. 68; 631 NW2d 678 (2001), and at no point ruled that design defect claims do not fit within the public building exception. The Michigan Supreme Court's ruling in **Nawrocki** has no bearing on this case.

It is important to note that underneath the public building exception, the governmental agency is liable for bodily injury resulting from a dangerous or defective condition – MCL 691.1406. However, under the highway exception to governmental immunity, a person who sustains bodily injury may recover damages only if they show that the governmental agency failed to keep the highway in reasonable repair and in a condition reasonably safe and fit for travel – MCL 691.1402. The scope of liability imposed on the government under the public building exception is arguably broader because it imposes liability where a dangerous or defective condition is established. This Michigan Supreme Court has historically interpreted this language to include design defects.

2. **The Michigan Court of Appeals Properly Ruled That the Plaintiffs Have Alleged Sufficient Facts to Come Under The Public Building Exception to Governmental Immunity.**

The Michigan Court of Appeals ruled that the Trial Court erred in granting MDOT’S Motion for Summary Disposition because the Plaintiffs have alleged sufficient facts to come under the public building exception to governmental immunity. This remains true today.

**”Construing all reasonable inferences in favor of the Rennys, summary disposition was improper. The Rennys have both alleged sufficient facts to come under the statutory exception to government immunity and produced sufficient evidence to establish a valid claim at law.**

We reverse and remand for further proceedings. We do not retain jurisdiction.” (**Renny**, 270 Mich. App. at p. 338 -- Appendix, p. 33a)

In coming to this conclusion, the Michigan Court of Appeals ruled that the injury-causing condition was, arguably, directly attributable to the restroom building itself.

“We conclude that this case is distinguishable both because the condition was not transitory **and because the injury-causing condition was, arguably, directly attributable to the building’s defective condition.**” (Renny, 270 Mich. App. at p. 334 -- Appendix, p. 30a)

Specifically, the defective condition included the failure to install and maintain gutters and downspouts to redirect melting snow and ice.

“By way of illustration, not limitation, [the] **defective conditions include the failure to install and maintain gutters and downspouts to redirect melting snow and ice on the roof above the entrance/exit away from the walkway.**

We conclude that this allegation, that the injury-causing condition arose out of a dangerous or defective condition of the building itself, is sufficient to meet the pleading requirement of the public building exception.” (Renny, 270 Mich. App. at p. 334, 335 -- Appendix, p 31a)

The Michigan Court of Appeals is right. There is no question that the injury causing condition included the failure to install and maintain gutters and downspouts to redirect melting snow and ice. The record is clear that the restroom building had an improperly insulated roof and lacked the gutters as originally installed. As a result, the restroom building suffered heat loss which melted the snow on the roof creating water that dripped off the roof and form ice at the entrance door. Al Burns, an employee of the RCRC, the public entity in charge of maintaining the premises, testified to this very fact.<sup>2</sup> Therefore, the underlying record is clear that the defective condition included the failure to install

---

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